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Mary Anne Poland ("Poland")! submits this Memorandum of Law in support of her

motion for an order (1) declaring the tollng agreement that the Securities and Exchange

Commission ("SEC") obtained in violation of Poland's constitutional rights void, and precluding

the SEC from using in any maner the statements that the SEC obtained from Poland in violation

ofPolands constitutional rights, or in the alternative conducting a hearing on this issue, (2)

striking from the Amended Complaint ("the Complaint") certain remedies sought by the SEC,

and (3) dismissing the SEC's Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) and 9(b).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In 2004, Nortel Networks Corporation ("Nortel" or "the Company") was under

investigation by the SEC for accounting fraud. Nortel turned for advice to Willam McLucas,

Esq., one of the most experienced SEC attorneys in the country. McLucas advised Nortel that in

order to avoid severe sanctions to Nortel it was critical that the Company cooperate fully with the

SEe. Par of that cooperation, McLucas told Nortel, required ceasing payment oflegal fees to

any employee whom either the Company or the SEC believed had engaged in wrongdoing.

McLucas' statements to Nortel were based, at a minimum, on a policy announced by the

SEC in 2001. In 2001, the SEC issued a report informing the business community that if a

company was involved in wrongdoing, but voluntarily admitted that wrongdoing and

"cooperated" with the SEC, this cooperation would be considered in mitigation of any penalty

imposed by the SEC. Anouncements by the SEC and the Deparment of Justice instructed that

"cooperation" included the company cutting off the voluntary payment of legal fees for any

employee whom the governent believed had engaged in wrongdoing.

1 The Complaint refers to Ms. Poland by her maried name, "Pahapill." Prior to the fiing ofthe

Complaint Poland legally changed her name back from her husband s name to her maiden name
of Poland. Accordingly, since that is her legal name we use "Poland" in this briefto refer to her.
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In this case, the SEC unconstitutionally exploited this policy to cause Nortel to cease

paying Poland's legal fees. Thus, there came a point in time when the SEC apparently told

Nortel that it intended to charge Poland with wrongdoing and Nortel immediately ceased paying

Poland's legal fees in order to please the SEC and to gain credit for "cooperation." Taking

advantage of Poland's lack of representation - a situation the SEC had caused - the SEC then

obtained two waivers of the statute of limitations and at least two statements from Poland. But

for these tollng agreements, the sanctions of (a) monetary penalties, (b) permanent injunction

against violation of the securities laws, and (c) offcer and directors bar - all of which are

sanctions that the SEC seeks to impose against Poland in this case - would be time-barred.

By deliberately interfering with Poland's right to indemnification from her former

employer, thereby causing her to lose her legal representation, by causing Poland to sign tolling

agreements at a time when she was not represented by counsel, and by repeatedly interviewing

Poland at a time when she was unrepresented, the SEC violated Poland's Fifth Amendment due

process right to fair treatment by the governent. Accordingly, as we explain in Point I below,

the tolling agreements signed by Poland should be declared void and the SEC should be

precluded from using Poland's statements in any maner.

Second, as explained in Point II below, the remedies of a permanent injunction, civil

penalties and an officer and director bar should be stricken from the Complaint, as barred by the

statute of limitations.

Third, as explained in Point III below, the remedy of disgorgement should also be

stricken due to the SEC's failure to plead sufficient facts to support the imposition of this remedy

against Poland.
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Finally, as explained in Point iv below, the Complaint must be dismissed for failure to

comply with Rules 12(b)(6) and 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

FACTUAL STATEMENT

A. The Chare:es in the Complaint

Poland is charged in six counts, which allege that she (1) violated the Securities Act

Section 17(a) (first claim); (2) violated the Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Exchange Act Rule

10b-5 thereunder (second claim); (3) violated the Exchange Act Section 13(b)(5) and Exchange

Act Rule 13b2-1 (third claim), (4) violated the Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2 (fourh claim); (5)

Aided and Abetted Nortel's violation s of Exchange Act Section 13(a) and Exchange Act Rules

12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13 thereunder (sixth claim); and (6) Aided and Abetted Nortel's

Violations of Exchange Act Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) (seventh claim). For each

claim the SEC is seeking (a) fines, (b) a permanent injunction against violation of the securities

laws, (c) an officer and director bar, and (d) disgorgement.

B. Factual Allee:ations in the Complaint

The Complaint alleges that Nortel executives were involved in a revenue recognition

fraud scheme from 2000-2001 and an earings revenue management fraud scheme from 2002-

2003. All of the factual allegations against Poland relate to the first scheme, which occurred

almost six years ago.

According to the Complaint, Poland, a Canadian citizen, joined Northern Telecom

(Norte 1 ' s predecessor) in April 1998 as its Vice President of Corporate Reporting. (CompL. ~

29). She became Assistant Controller in February 1999 and held both positions until 2001. ¡d.

The Complaint alleges that for five months - beginning in mid-November 2000 and ending in

March 31,2001, when Nortel's Form 10k for the year 2000 was fied - Poland paricipated in a
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"revenue recognition fraud" with defendants Fran Dun (Nortel's CFO and later its CEO)

("Dunn"), Douglas Beatty (Nortel's Controller and later its CFO) ("Beatty") and Michael

Gollogly (Beatty's successor to the position of Controller) ("Gollogly") to manipulate Nortel's

accounting. (Compl. ~ 6).

Additionally, the Complaint alleges that on January 11,2005 Nortel issued a "Second

Restatement," which restated Nortel's liabilities, and corrected all of the incorrect accounting in

which Poland is alleged to have paricipated, or have had knowledge. On January 10,2005, in

connection with an outside audit ofNortel's financial statements for the period ending December

31, 2003, restated for 2002, Poland signed a management representation letter which the

Complaint alleges "falsely stated that, among other things, she knew of no fraud affecting the

Company that was not already disclosed to Nortel's outside auditor." (Compl. ~ 171). There is

no factual allegation in the Complaint that this allegedly false statement to the auditors caused

any false filings or any false public statements, or why this statement was allegedly materiaL.

Indeed, the Complaint admits that by the time Poland made this statement, the false financial

statements that had resulted from the "revenue recognition fraud" in which Poland was alleged to

have paricipate had been corrected. (Compl. ~ 170). As set forth below, this factual allegation,

by which the SEC attempts to cure its statute of limitations problem, must be stricken from the

Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).

C. Nortel's Decision to Terminate Payment of Poland's Lee:al Fees

After the SEe's investigation began, Poland took advantage ofNortel's long-held policy

of paying legal fees for its employees in work related cases and retained Carl Loewenson, Esq. of

Morrison Foerster as her counsel. (Poland Aff. ~ 7). Nortel's by-laws guaranteed

indemnification, and Nortel paid the legal fees of other employees who were similarly situated to
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Poland. 2 (Poland Aff. ~ 5).

During the SEC investigation, Nortel sought counsel from the law firm Wilmer Cutler,

and in particular, from Wiliam McLucas, Esq.3 (Poland Aff. ~ 8). McLucas paricipated in

Nortel's Board! Audit meeting since 2004 and he advised the company on how it should handle

the SEC investigation. (Poland Aff. ~ 8). McLucas understood that the SEC had a policy of

penalizing companies which paid employees whom the SEC believed had engaged in

wrongdoing. See Wiliam R. McLucas, Howard M. Shapiro & Julie Song, The Decline of the

Attorney-Client Privilege in the Corporate Setting, 96 1. CRIM L. & CRIMINOLOGY 621, 637

(2006). McLucas advised Nortel that Nortel must "cooperate" with the SEC and that this

cooperation included terminating the payment of legal fees for any employee that either the

Company or the SEC believed had engaged in wrongdoing.4 (Poland Aff. ii 9).

McLucas and his firm, Wilmer Cutler, investigated Nortel and wrote a report, which was

given to Nortel's Audit Committee in late December 2004 and included in Nortel's January 2005

Restatements. (Poland Aff. ii 10). The report accused others in the Company of wrongdoing,

but did not allege that Poland was engaged in any wrongdoing. (Poland Aff. ii 11).

In February 2005, Poland decided to leave NorteL. She requested that the Company give

her a letter outlining the ongoing payment oflegal fees. (Poland Aff. ~ 14). Gordon Davies,

2 Nortel paid the legal fees in the amount of $751, 568 on behalf of Linda Mezon, who succeeded

Poland in the role of assistant controller, even after Mezon left NorteL. (Poland Aff. ~ 6); exhibit
A to Necheles Declaration.

3 McLucas has intimate knowledge of SEC practice, having been the Director of Enforcement for

eight years. ¡d. See http://ww.wilmerhale.com/wiliam_mclucas/.

4 Nortel's strategy appears to have worked. On October 15,2007 the SEC announced a

settlement with Nortel. In its press release, the SEC acknowledged Nortel's "substantial
remedial efforts and cooperation." Nortel Networks Pays $35 millon to Settle Financial Fraud
Charges. Exhibit B to Necheles Declaration.

(0007879l.DOC;ll 5



then the Secretary at Nortel, gave Poland a letter that stated Nortel would continue to pay her

legal fees for the time being, but wanted to keep the option of terminating her coverage open. ¡d.

Davies told Poland that the reason Nortel decided to retain this option was so it could be viewed

more favorably by the SEC during the investigation. ¡d.

In November 2005, Loewenson received a call from the SEC requesting that Poland enter

into a tollng agreement. (Poland Aff. ~ 15). Poland asked Loewenson to call Nortel to make

sure that the company would continue covering her legal fees. ¡d. In December 2005 Nortel left

Loewenson a voicemail informing him that it would no longer pay for Poland's legal fees.

(Poland Aff. ii 16). Poland informed Loewenson that she could not afford him. ¡d.

On December 26, 2005, Poland flew to the United States with her husband and three

children for a vacation in Florida. (Poland Aff. ~ 18). Before they could board the flght, Poland

and her entire family were detained for one and a half hours by United States Customs Officials

in Canada. (Poland Aff. ~ii 18-19). Finally, an officer approached Poland and asked her about

her past travels and specifically what address she and her family were staying at in Florida.

(Poland Aff. ~ 19). Thereafter, Poland and her family were allowed to catch their flight. ¡d.

The next day, Loewenson called Poland and told her that the SEC had contacted him to

ask about the status of a tollng agreement for Poland that they had previously discussed with

Loewenson and had given Loewenson Poland's contact information in Florida. (Poland Aff. ~

20). Loewenson informed the SEC that he no longer represented Poland and that she did not

have counsel. ¡d. As a couresy, Loewenson agreed to accept delivery of the tollng agreement

for Poland. ¡d.

Poland signed the tollng agreement, as requested by the SEC, on January 18, 2006,

covering the period from Januar 18, 2006-December 31,2006. (Poland Aff. ~ 21). Her
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decision to sign the tolling agreement came at a critical juncture, just as the fifth year anniversary

of all of her acts in connection with what the SEC has called the "revenue recognition fraud" was

about to pass. She signed a second tolling agreement on November 21,2006, covering the

period January 18, 2006-December 31,2007. (Poland Aff. ~ 23).

At the time that the SEC demanded that Poland sign these tolling agreements, the SEC

was fully aware of the fact that Poland could no longer afford to retain counsel and that Poland's

lack of legal representation was the direct result of the Company attempting to "cooperate" with

the SEC and to comply with the SEC's directives regarding terminating the legal fees for

employees who the SEC believed had engaged in wrongdoing. The SEC sought maximum

advantage from this situation. SEC attorney Vincente Marinez contacted Poland after she sent

the SEC the first signed tollng agreement on January 18,2006 and attempted to convince Poland

to backdate this document, so as to waive the statute of limitations going back to December 23,

2005 (Poland Aff. ~ 22). Believing that it was improper to backdate documents, Poland refused

to comply with Marinez's request and the document remained dated January 18,2006. ¡d. She

later signed a second tollng agreement. (Poland Aff. ~ 23).

Additionally, at the SEC's request, Poland met with the SEC on two separate occasions

without representation of counseL. (Poland Aff. ~ 24-25). The first meeting took place in

Washington, DC on April 5-6of2006. (Poland Aff. ~ 24). During that meeting, Martinez

threatened to bring charges against Poland unless she came up with "the goods" against Dunn,

Beatty and Deloitte & Touche. ¡d. Martinez repeatedly told Poland that an FBI agent might join

the meeting, leading Poland to conclude that she was under criminal investigation and that unless

she told the SEC that Dun, Beatty or Deloitte had been engaged in wrongdoing, she was likely
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to be charged criminally. ¡d. A second meeting took place in Washington on June 7, 2006 under

a proffering agreement. (Poland Aff. ~ 25).

D. The SEC's Policy On Corporate Cooperation

Nortel's decision to terminate payment of Poland's legal fees was based, at a minimum,

on public statements made by the SEC, which instructed that companies must "cooperate" in

SEC investigations or risk severe penalties, and that "cooperation" includes termination of

payment of legal fees for any employee who the SEC believes was engaged in wrongdoing.

On October 23,2001, the SEC issued "Seaboard Report."s The Seaboard Report is the

civil equivalent ofthe "Thompson Memorandum," which set out to provide guidance for

prosecutors to use in deciding whether or not to prosecute a corporation.6 The Thompson

Memorandum, like the Seaboard Report, made "cooperation" with a government investigation a

factor to be considered in deciding whether to indict a corporation or other business entity. The

Thompson Memorandum specified that, among other things, a company's promise to pay the

legal fees of employees who the governent considered culpable of wrongdoing could be a

5 The formal title of the Seaboard Report is "Report ofInvestigation Pursuant to Section 21(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Commission Statement on the Relationship of
Cooperation to Agency Enforcement Decisions." Exhibit C to Necheles Declaration.

6 Memorandum from Larr D. Thompson, Deputy Attorney General, Deparment of Justice, to

Head of Department Components and United States Attorneys, Principles of Federal Prosecution
of Business Organizations (Januar 20,2003), attached as Exhibit D to Necheles Declaration.
Following Judge Kaplan's decision in United States v. Stein, 435 F. Supp. 2d 330, 361-364
(S.D.N.Y. 2006), the Justice Department replaced the Thompson Memorandum with the
McNulty Memorandum on December 12,2006. See Memorandum from Paul J. McNulty,
Deputy Attorney General, Deparment of Justice, to Head of Department Components and
United States Attorneys, Principles of Federal Prosecution of Business Organizations (December
12,2006), ("McNulty Memo"), attached as Exhibit E to Necheles Declaration. The McNulty
Memorandum does not permit prosecutors to take payment of legal fees into account, except in
"extremely rare cases." ¡d. The SEC has never issued such a qualification and it has yet to
withdraw the Seaboard Report.
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factor for a prosecutor in deciding to charge a company with criminal conduct. Exhibit D to

Necheles Declaration, pp. 7-8.

Similar to the Thompson Memorandum, the Seaboard Report stated that whether a

company caused its employees to "cooperate" with the SEC would be a factor considered by the

SEC in deciding whether to impose sanctions against a company. Exhibit C to Necheles

Declaration, pp. 3-4.

The SEC left the term "cooperate" vague. However, on May 17,2004, the SEC issued a

press release related to its settlement with Lucent over a $1.1 bilion fraud accounting case.

Exhibit F to Necheles Declaration, pp. 1-3. The Lucent press release emphasized that corporate

cooperation was critical to the SEC's assessment of penalties and that one factor the SEC would

consider was whether or not the employer indemnified employees. ¡d. at 2.

The Lucent press release had a strong impact on corporate America. The defense bar

published numerous aricles interpreting the SEC's statement to mean that "paying employees'

legal fees in a securities investigation could be deemed uncooperative." Phyllis Diamond, SEC

Demandfor "Cooperation" Seen Raising Due Process Concerns, 36 Sec. Reg. & Law Rep.

(BNA) 1070 (June 14,2004).7 The implications of 
the Seaboard Report and the penalty imposed

on Lucent were clear to McLucas, as evidenced by an aricle he co-wrote, in which he stated:

While the employee might reasonably expect his company to help pay the legal
bils associated with an inquiry into the work he did for the company-and most
companies do so-the DOJ or the SEC policies often disfavor such support,
depending upon how the governent views the individual's conduct. These
individuals may be left in the difficult position of paying their own legal fees or
else forfeiting legal representation.

7 In a 2006 report, the ABA Task Force on Attorney-Client Privilege noted that a component of

the SEC's determination that Lucent failed to cooperate was the company's decision to
indemnify employees. Report ofthe ABA Task Force on Attorney Client Privilege (August
2006), Exhibit G to Necheles Declaration, p. 13 n. 36.
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McLucas, The Decline of the Attorney-Client Privilege in the Corporate Setting, at 637.

The SEC did nothing to disavow the impression it had created among corporate America

that payment of legal fees of an employee who the SEC considered to be culpable of wrongdoing

would be a factor that would be considered against a company in determining the severity of

penalties to be imposed against that company.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SEC OBTAINED THE TOLLING AGREEMENTS AND THE STATEMENTS
FROM POLAND IN VIOLATION OF POLAND'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

In United States v. Stein, Judge Lewis Kaplan recognized that an employer must often

reimburse an employee for legal expenses when the employee is sued as a result of doing his or

her job. Stein, 435 F. Supp. 2d at 335. Judge Kaplan found that this practice of indemnification

of legal fees is paricularly critical in today's world, where legal representation in a complex case

charging corporate fraud can cost tens of milions of dollars in a large document case involving

complex allegations of fraud. United State v. Stein, 495 F. Supp. 2d 390, 424-425 (S.D.N.Y.

2007). These types of legal fees are impossible for someone like Poland, whose salar after she

left Nortel was $128,500 per year, to afford. (Poland Aff. ~ 3). By depriving a potential

defendant such as Poland of corporate indemnification in a case such as the instant one involving

allegations of complex accounting fraud, the governent knowingly and deliberately ensures

that she wil not be able to afford adequate representation. Effectively, the governent stacks

the deck, making prosecution of this case much simpler by denying individuals their ability to

mount an effective defense.

As Judge Kaplan found in Stein, there is no legitimate governent purose in stacking

the deck in this maner. Thus, in Stein, Judge Kaplan dismissed the indictment against thirteen

defendants because the governent's egregious conduct in causing KPMG to abandon its
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longstanding policy of voluntarily paying legal fees for partners and employees violated the

defendants' Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights. Stein, 495 F. Supp. 2d at 427. Here, as in Stein,

a governent agency interfered with a corporation's payment of its employees and former

employees' legal fees. This interference, coupled with the SEe's actions once it was aware that

Poland had no legal representation, violated her Fifth Amendment rights.

A. The Lee:al Standard

The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that no person shall "be

deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of the law." U.S. Const. Amend V.

The "Due Process Clause. . . prohibits deprivations of life, liberty, or property, without

'fudamental fairness' through governental conduct that offends the community's sense of

justice, decency and fair play." Roberts v. State of Maine, 48 F.3d 1287, 1291 (1st Cir. 1995).

Governent actions may violate either substantive or procedural due process. Substantive due

process prevents "'certain governent actions regardless of the fairness ofthe procedures used

to implement them.''' Wantanabe Realty Corp. v City of New York, 315 F. Supp. 2d 375, 392

(S.D.N.Y. 2003) (quoting Daniels v. Willams, 474 U.S. 327, 331 (1986)).

Fundamental rights are those which are so essential to fudamental liberty that they

cannot be infinged by the governent unless the infringement is narowly tailored to serve a

compelling interest. Stein, 435 F. Supp. 2d at 360 (citing Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S.

702, 721 (1997)). In Stein, Judge Kaplan ruled that although the right to fairness in a criminal

proceeding had not been explicitly characterized as a "fudamental right," the Supreme Court

has repeatedly recognized the constitutional mandate of fairness in criminal proceedings,

suggesting that the right is fudamentaL. ¡d. at 390-391. Indeed, the Second Circuit, has

explicitly recognized the right to fairness in the criminal process as a fudamental liberty interest

(0007879l.DOC; II 11



subject to substantive due process analysis. Id; Quil v. Vacco, 80 F.3d 716, 724 (2d Cir. 1996),

rev'd on other grounds, 521 U.S. 793 (1997). Given this, Judge Kaplan concluded that the right

to fairness in a criminal proceeding was basic to the concept of justice and fair play and must be

considered fundamentaL. Stein, 435 F. Supp. 2d at 360-361.

Fifth Amendment protections afforded to defendants in criminal proceedings often extend

to civil proceedings as welL. Doe ex reI. Rudy-Glanzer v. Glanzer, 232 F.3d 1258, 1263 (9th Cir.

2000) (citing Lefkowitz v. Turley, 414 U.S. 70, 77 (1973)). For example, there is no question that

defendants in both criminal and civil cases have a Constitutional right to a fair triaL. Latiolais v.

Whitley, 93 F.3d 205,207 (5th Cir. 1996) (citing Lemons v. Skidmore, 985 F.2d 354, 357 (7th

Cir.1993)); see also Bailey v. Systems Innovation, Inc., 852 F.2d 93, 98 (3d Cir.1988) (holding

that "fairness in a jury trial, whether criminal or civil in nature, is a vital constitutional right").

Similarly, Fifth Amendment protections against self-incrimination can be asserted in any

proceeding, regardless of whether it is criminal or civiL. Glanzer, 232 F.3d at 1263; see also

Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441, 444 (1972). So too, we submit that the fudamental

right of a defendant who is being sued by the governent to be treated fairly applies equally to a

civil case.

It is clear that the governent acts in a fundamentally unfair manner when, without any

justification other than a desire to cripple defense efforts, the governent causes a third party

such as Nortel to breach its by-laws and refuse to pay the legal fees of a former employee - legal

fees that Nortel clearly would have paid ifthe governent had not intervened. See Stein, 435 F.

Supp. 2d at 361-362. The SEC's statements and actions, which impeded Poland's right to be

treated fairly by the governent in a civil lawsuit, are therefore subject to strict scrutiny.
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Due process analysis provides that where governent action has infringed on a

fundamental right, the governent's conduct is subject to strict scrutiny. Zauderer v. Offce of

Disciplinary Counsel of Supreme Court of Ohio, 471 U.S. 626,651 (1985). To surive strict

scrutiny, governent action must be narowly tailored to achieve a compelling governent

interest. Stein, 435 F. Supp. 2d at 362; Glucksberg, 529 U.S. at 721.

Here, there was no compellng governent interest. To the contrary, the SEC's actions

in causing Poland to lose her legal representation and then taking advantage of Poland's

situation, fly in the face of traditional notions of justice and fair play.8 The SEC caused Poland

to be deprived of legal counsel and to be forced to make crucial legal decisions such as whether

or not to enter into tollng agreements and appear before the SEC. (Poland Aff. ~ii 21-25).

During this time period when Poland had no legal representation, the SEC made sure that she

signed two tollng agreements, attempted to convince her to backdate one of the tollng

agreements, and caused her to meet with SEC attorneys to discuss the case. (Poland Aff. ~~ 21-

8 Poland moves for a hearing to determine the facts concerning Nortel's terminating the payment

of her legal fees, including what exactly McLucas was told by the SEC about payment of legal
fees for Nortel employees, and what McLucas or other Wilmer Cutler attorneys told the SEC.
Such a hearing was the procedure utilized in United States v. Stein, 2007 WL 91350 (S.D.N.Y.
Jan. 8, 2007) at * 1, by Judge Lewis Kaplan, to discover the facts concerning discussions between
the United States Attorney's Office and attorneys for KPMG on the issue of KPMG's payment
of legal fees.

However, regardless of whether or not the SEC directly requested that Nortel cease
paying legal fees for its employees, Nortel' s act of cutting of payment of Poland's legal fees is
attributable to the SEC. The SEC, through its policy, provided "significant encouragement" to
undertake the challenged action by issuing the Seaboard Report and the Lucent press release.
D.L. Cromwell Investments, Inc. v. NASD Regulation., Inc., 279 F.3d 155, 161 (2d Cir. 2002);
see also Robinson v. State of Florida, 378 U.S. 153, 156 (1964) (owner of a restaurant who
refused to serve black patrons was state actor for Fourteenth Amendment purposes where Florida
regulations did not forbid restaurants from integrating but placed "burdens bound to discourage
the serving of the two races together"); Stein, 435 F. Supp. 2d at 364 (Thompson Memorandum's
direction to prosecutors to take into account corporation's payment oflegal fees to its employees
converted corporation's decision not to pay legal fees into state action).
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25). All this occurred at a time when the SEC had caused Poland to believe that if she did not

cooperate and do whatever was asked of her by the SEC she would be arested and prosecuted

criminally. The SEC created this fear by causing Poland to be detained with her family at the

border and by specifically tellng Poland that an FBI agent was working on the case. (Poland

Aff. ii 24).

B. The Appropriate Remedy for the SEC's Violation is Declaring The
Tollng Agreements Which The SEC Unconstitutionally Obtained
Void And Precluding the SEC from Using In Any Way The
Statements Obtained From Poland at The Time When She Was Not
Represented Bv Counsel

The Supreme Cour has repeatedly emphasized that the nature and extent of the

constitutional violation must determine the scope ofthe remedy. United States v. Columbus

Municipal Separate School Dist., 558 F.2d 228,231 (5thCir. 1977) (citing Miliken v. Bradlev,

418 U.S. 717, 744, (1974) (Miliken I )). In Stein, Judge Kaplan ruled that where the

governent improperly interfered with the payment of defense costs that that KPMG otherwise

would have paid, the appropriate remedy for the governent's violation of defendants' Fifth

Amendment rights was dismissal of the case. Stein, 495 F. Supp. 2d at 427-428.

Here too, the governent improperly interfered with payment of Poland's defense costs

that Nortel otherwise would have paid. The direct result of the SEe's actions was that Poland

signed a waiver of the statute of limitations that if she had been represented by counsel she might

not otherwise have signed. Additionally, Poland made repeated statements to the SEC that she

might not have made if she were represented by counsel. The only way to restore Poland to the

position she would have been in prior to the SEC's unconstitutional conduct is to (a) declare the

tollng agreements void, and (b) preclude the SEC from using Poland's statements.
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Even if the Cour concludes that such action would be premature at this point, the

evidence adduced thus far is suffcient to warant full discovery and a hearing to learn about the

full extent of the actions the SEC took to force Nortel to abandon its policy of paying legal fees

to its curent and former employees. As occured in the Stein case, discovery is likely to reveal

facts that fuher prove that the governent's tactics violated Poland's Fifth Amendment rights.

II. THE REMEDIES OF CIVIL PENAL TIES, IMPOSITION OF A
PERMANENT INJUNCTION, OR AN OFFICER AND DIRECTOR
BAR MUST BE STRICKEN FROM THE COMPLAINT

The remedies that the SEC seeks against Poland must be stricken from the Complaint to

the extent that they seek to impose a penalty upon Poland. As explained below, all of the

allegations about Poland's acts in the Complaint that (a) pled with sufficient paricularity, and (b)

allegedly contributed to the scheme to defraud, occurred prior to January 19, 2001. The

Complaint was not fied until March 12,2007. Therefore, the SEC's attempt to impose a penalty

upon Poland is bared by the applicable five-year statute of limitations.

We set forth below the factual allegations in the Complaint and identify which are

pleaded with sufficient paricularity and which must be disregarded in determining the statute of

limitations claim. We then identify the remedies which must be stricken.

A. Poland's Allee:ed Involvement In The Allee:ed Fraudulent Scheme

As set forth above, there are two fraud schemes alleged in the Complaint. (Complaint, ii

1). Poland is only alleged to have been involved in the first scheme - a "revenue recognition

fraud" which allegedly occurred in 2000. The last act allegedly taken in furtherance of this

fraud was the filing ofNortel's Fourh Quarer 2000 Form 10-K, which occured on March 13,

2001. (Complaint ii 76). Recognizing that this presents a statute oflimitations problem, the SEC

has made two allegations in the Complaint that attempt to cure this problem.
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First, paragraph 80 of the Complaint alleges that "the revenue figures that were misstated

in the 2000 Form 10-K affected futue public fiings which incorporated those figures by

reference, including, (fiings up through September 2003)." (Complaint ii 80). This allegation,

however, is not pleaded with suffcient paricularity to allege wrongdoing against Poland. The

Complaint is bereft of any allegation that Poland in any way participated in preparing the

quarterly fiings that were fied after March 13, 2001, or that she was aware that the later filings

included incorrect earlier filings. Accordingly, these allegations are not pleaded with sufficient

paricularity to support a fraud claim against Poland, and must be disregarded for the statute of

limitations analysis. See Acito v. IMCERA Group, Inc., 47 F.3d 47,51-52 (2d Cir. 1995),

Shields v. City trust Bancorp, Inc., 25 F.3d 1124, 1127-28 (2d Cir.1994). Rombach v. Chang, 
355

F.3d 164, 170 (2d Cir. 2004).

Second, paragraph 171 of the Complaint alleges:

On January 11, 2005, Nortel issued a 'Second Restatement,' which restated

Nortel's liabilities by at least another $746 milion and restated revenues by
approximately $3.4 bilion. On January 10, 2005, in connection with Deloitte's
audit of the Company's financial statements for the period ending December 31,
2003, restated for 2002, Pahapil had signed a management representation letter
which falsely stated that, among other things, she knew of no fraud affecting the
Company that was not already disclosed to Nortel's outside auditor.

The SEC admits, however, earlier in the Complaint, that the Second Restatement

corrected all ofthe effects of defendants' two accounting fraud schemes. (Compl. ~ 170). The

falsity of Poland's statement, therefore, as alleged in the Paragraph 171 of the Complaint,

appears to be that even though the auditors knew about the improper revenue recognition which

occured in 2000 and had corrected this in the financial statements, the auditors did not know

that this was a fraudulent scheme engaged in by Nortel's top executives.
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Even if the SEC's allegation is correct, Poland's alleged false statement was immateriaL.

It did not cause any false statement in any financial statement issued by Nortel. And the other

top management who allegedly paricipated in this fraudulent scheme had already been fired by

Nortel. (Complaint ~ 169). Accordingly, this alleged false statement by Poland to auditors did

not further the fiing of a false statement to the public, did not cover up wrongdoing to the

auditors, and is irrelevant for the purose of a statute of limitation analysis. Thus, the acts by

Poland that are pleaded in a legally sufficient maner all occurred prior to March 13,2001.

B. The Lee:al Standard

Poland is alleged to have (1) violated the Securities Act Section 17(a) (first claim); (2)

violated the Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 thereunder (second

claim); (3) violated the Exchange Act Section 13(b)(5) and Exchange Act Rule 13b2-1 (third

claim), (4) violated the Exchange Act Rule 13b2-2 (fourh claim); (5) Aided and Abetted

Nortel's violation s of Exchange Act Section 13(a) and Exchange Act Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and

13a-13 thereunder (sixth claim); and (6) Aided and Abetted Nortel's Violations of Exchange Act

Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) (seventh claim).

None ofthese claims have a limitations period. Therefore, to the extent the SEC's claims

are subject to a statute oflimitations, the five year catch-all limitations period in 28 U.S.C. §2462

applies. SEC v. Jones, 476 F. Supp. 2d 374,380 (S.D.N.Y. 2007).

§2462 provides that whether or not there is a limitation period depends on the remedy

sought. In pertinent par, §2462 states that "an action, suit or proceeding for the enforcement of

any civil fine, penalty, or forfeiture, pecuniary or otherwse, shall not be entertained unless

commenced within five years from the date when the claim first accrued." 28 U.S.C. § 2462.
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§2462 applies to civil penalties and equitable relief that seek to punish rather than remedy

a past wrong or protect the public from futue har. Jones, 476 F. Supp. 2d at 381; see also

Johnson v. SEC, 87 F.3d 484,486-92 (D.e. Cir. 1996). The Commission's claims for a

permanent injunction, civil fines, and an officer and director's bar seek to punish Poland and

they are therefore subject to the five-year limitations period.

1. Civil Penalties

There is no doubt that the SEC's claim for civil monetary penalties is a penalty within the

meaning of28 U.S.C. § 2462. Jones, 476 F. Supp. 2d at 382. Even the SEC has conceded that §

2462 applies to civil penalties. s.E.e. v. Ogle, 2000 WL 45260 at * 4 (N.D.Ill. Jan. 11,2000).

As such, the SEC's claims for civil penalties are subject to a five-year statute oflimitations.

2. Permanent Injunction and Officer and Director's Bar

Claims for a permanent injunction are subject to a five-year statute of limitations in 28

U.S.C. § 2462 when they are deemed punitive rather than remediaL. Jones, 476 F.Supp.2d at

383; s.E.e. v. DiBella; 409 F. Supp. 2d 122, 128 n. 3 (D. Conn. 2006). In order for a permanent

injunction to be remedial the SEC must establish that there exists some cognizable danger of

recurrent violation...." SEC v. Culpepper, 270 F.2d 241, 250 (2d Cir. 1959). Mere general

statements that an individual used her position to engage in misconduct does not justify a

prediction that future misconduct wil occur. SEC v. Patel, 61 F.3d 137, 141 (2d Cir. 1995).

Instead, the SEC must prove that that the requested injunction is aimed at protecting the public

from future harm. Jones, 476 F.Supp.2d at 384. Logically, the same standard must apply to an

officer and director's bar.

Nowhere in its Complaint does the SEC allege that there is a cognizable danger of a

recurrent violation by Poland. Poland's alleged wrongdoing is alleged to have been limited to a
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five month period which occured more than six years ago. The short time frame of the alleged

misconduct and the length of time that has passed since then eviscerates the SEC's perfuctory

allegation that Poland poses a continuing risk to the public and must be enjoined from

committing future violations. Jones, 476 F.Supp.2d at 384; cf In re Moskowitz, 2002 WL

434524, Exchange Act Release No. 45,609, 77 SEC Docket 446 (March 21, 2002).

In addition to focusing on the likelihood of recurence, cours must evaluate the degree

and extent of the consequence of the injunction when determining whether the injunction or the

officer and director's bar is a penalty. Johnson, 87 F.3d at 488. In Jones, the cour explained

that the potential collateral consequences of issuing a permanent injunction would be quite

serious to defendants because they would be stigmatized in the investment community and their

ability to pursue a career would be significantly impaired. Jones, 476 F.Supp.2d at 385; SEC v.

Geon Indus., Inc., 531 F.2d 39,55 (2d Cir. 1976).

The collateral consequences of the imposition of a permanent injunction or an officer and

director's bar on Poland would be quite severe. As alleged in the Complaint, Poland worked in

financial regulatory positions at Nortel for a number of years, first as a Vice-President of

Corporate Reporting, then as Assistant Controller and finally as Controller. (Compl. ii 26). She

would face undue hardship ever attaining similarly high-raning positions at other corporations if

a permanent injunction or an officer and directors bar was issued against her.

Accordingly, the permanent injunction and the officer and directors' bar that the SEC

seek here against Poland are clearly punitive, not remedial, and are therefore bared by the

statute of limitations.

Thus, the remedies sought by the SEC of civil penalties, permanent injunction and an

officer and director bar must be stricken from the Complaint.
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III. THE DISGORGEMENT CLAIMS MUST BE STRICKEN DUE TO THE
SEC'S FAILURE TO ALLEGE IMPROPER GAINS BY POLAND

The SEe's request for disgorgement must be dismissed because it fails under Rule

12(b)(6) and 9(b). In its Complaint, the SEC requests that defendants disgorge any il-gotten

gains, compensation, and benefits by "virtue of the conduct alleged herein." However, the

Complaint fails to allege any facts to support recovery against Poland under the theory of

disgorgement. SEC v. Norton, 1998 WL 691043 at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 1998) (granting

summar judgment dismissing SEC's claims for disgorgement where the SEC could not make a

showing that defendant received il-gotten gains). DiBella, 409 F. Supp. at 134 (SEC must

allege improper gain in order to state a claim for disgorgement).

The allegations related to any il-gotten gains by defendants in this case are confined to

paragraphs 152-156 of the Complaint under a section entitled, "Nortel Rewards Its Executives

And Others With Undeserved Bonuses On the Basis Of Results Achieved Through Its

Fraudulent Scheme." (Compl. ~~ 152-156). Poland is conspicuously absent from this portion of

the Complaint. The SEC concedes in Paragraph 152 of the Complaint that any bonuses paid to

Nortel employees were the result of "defendants' earnings scheme in 2002 and 2003." (Compl. ~

152). There is no allegation anywhere in the Complaint that Poland was involved in an earnings

scheme in 2002 and 2003. As such, the claim fails under Rule 12(b)(6).

The disgorgement claim also fails under Rule 9(b), which requires a heightened pleading

standard in all averments offraud. Rombach, 355 F.3d at 171. Rule 9(b) prevents a plaintiff

from making allegations against defendants in the aggregate without having to apprise each

defendant of his or her fraudulent conduct. Harrison v. Rubinstein, 2007 WL 582955 at * 12

(S.D.N.Y. Feb. 26, 2007); see also T.He., Inc., v. Fortune Petroleum Corp., 1999 WL 182593 at

*3 (S.D.N.Y. March 31, 1999) ("Cours are especially vigilant in applying Rule 9(b) where a
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complaint is made against multiple defendants"). Rule 9(b) is therefore not "satisfied by a

complaint in which defendants are clumped together in vague allegations." In re Blech Securities

Litigation, 928 F.Supp. 1279, 1294 (S.D.N.Y.1996). However, the SEC's Complaint refers to

defendants collectively, stating that "(d)efendants and other Nortel employees received milions

of dollars in bonuses...." (Compl. ~ 152). Lumping defendants together this way creates the

kind of inadequate pleading that Rule 9(b) seeks to avoid.

The SEC's "bald assertions" and unsubstantiated conclusions are insufficient and the

disgorgement claims must be stricken from the Complaint. See Us. ex reI. Smith v. New York

Presbyterian Hosp., 2007 WL2142312 at * 8 (S.D..N.Y. July 18,2007).

IV. POLAND JOINS IN THE MOTIONS OF HER CO-DEFENDANTS TO
THE EXTENT THEY ARE APPLICABLE TO HER, AND MOVES
TO DISMSS THE COMPLAINT BASED ON FAILURE TO STATE A
CLAIM AND PLEAD FRAUD WITH PARTICULARITY, AS SET
FORTH IN THE MOTION OF DEFENDANT DUNN

CONCLUSION

As explained above, the tollng agreements which the SEC obtained in violation of

Poland's constitutional rights must be declared void. Once that occurs, each and every claim for

relief is bared either by the statute oflimitations or by the SEe's failure to allege facts sufficient

to support the relief requested. Each of the claims against Poland must, accordingly, be

dismissed. Thus, for the foregoing reasons, Poland respectfully requests that this Cour grant

defendant Poland's motion (1) to declare the tollng agreements void, (2) prohibit the SEC from

using the statements it obtained from Poland in any maner, (3) strike the remedies the SEC

seeks in the Complaint based on the statute of limitations and failure to plead suffcient facts to

support the remedy requested, and (4) dismiss the Complaint under Rules 12(b)( 6) and 9(b) of

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
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Dated: New York, New York
November 12,2007

Respectfully submitted,

HAFETZ & NECHELES

Isl

Susan R. Necheles (SN1215)
500 Fifth Avenue
New York, New York 10110
(212) 997-7595
Email: srn~hafetzlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant Mary Anne Poland
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